

ANNUAL **Further** Click here to view this article's online features: • Download figures as PPT slides

- Download ligures as PPT slide
 Navigate linked references
- Download citations
- Explore related articles
- Search keywords

Advances in Antibody Design

Kathryn E. Tiller and Peter M. Tessier

Center for Biotechnology and Interdisciplinary Studies, Isermann Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, Troy, New York 12180; email: tessier@rpi.edu

Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2015. 17:191-216

First published online as a Review in Advance on August 14, 2015

The Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering is online at bioeng.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071114-040733

Copyright © 2015 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

Keywords

IgG, scFv, V_H, Fab, CDR, complementarity-determining region

Abstract

The use of monoclonal antibodies as therapeutics requires optimizing several of their key attributes. These include binding affinity and specificity, folding stability, solubility, pharmacokinetics, effector functions, and compatibility with the attachment of additional antibody domains (bispecific antibodies) and cytotoxic drugs (antibody–drug conjugates). Addressing these and other challenges requires the use of systematic design methods that complement powerful immunization and in vitro screening methods. We review advances in designing the binding loops, scaffolds, domain interfaces, constant regions, post-translational and chemical modifications, and bispecific architectures of antibodies and fragments thereof to improve their bioactivity. We also highlight unmet challenges in antibody design that must be overcome to generate potent antibody therapeutics.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION 1	192
2. OVERVIEW OF APPROACHES FOR DESIGNING ANTIBODIES 1	194
3. ANTIBODY BINDING AFFINITY AND SPECIFICITY 1	195
3.1. De Novo Design 1	195
3.2. Design by Mimicking Natural Protein Interactions 1	195
3.3. Semirational Design Combined with Directed Evolution Methods 1	196
3.4. Antibody Redesign and Optimization 1	198
4. ANTIBODY CONFORMATIONAL (FOLDING) STABILITY 1	199
5. ANTIBODY COLLOIDAL STABILITY (SOLUBILITY) 2	201
6. ANTIBODY EFFECTOR FUNCTION 2	203
7. ANTIBODY–DRUG CONJUGATES 2	205
8. BISPECIFIC ANTIBODIES	206
9. FUTURE DIRECTIONS	209
10. CONCLUSIONS	210

1. INTRODUCTION

Antibodies are affinity proteins that play a central role in humoral immunity. Their ability to bind to foreign invaders with high affinity and specificity is central to their function. Equally important is their ability to serve as adaptor molecules and recruit immune cells for various effector functions. There are five main classes of antibodies with diverse functions: immunoglobulin (Ig)A IgD, IgE, IgG, and IgM (1). IgGs are the most abundant class of antibodies, as they constitute approximately 75% of the serum immunoglobulin repertoire. There are four subclasses of IgGs, which vary in their abundance and ability to elicit specific effector functions.

The overall architecture of IgGs is conserved across its four subclasses, and consists of two light chains and two heavy chains (**Figure 1**). The light chains contain variable (V_L) and constant (C_L) domains, and the heavy chains contain one variable (V_H) and three constant (C_H1 , C_H2 , and C_H3) domains. One notable difference between IgG subclasses is the location of the disulfide bonds between C_H1 and C_L (which link the heavy and light chains) and the number of disulfide bonds in the hinge region (which link the heavy chains). The multidomain nature of IgGs elegantly divides their bioactivity into different subdomains. The antigen-binding fragment (Fab) contains both variable domains, and mediates antigen recognition via six peptide loops known as the complementarity-determining regions (CDRs). In contrast, the crystallizable fragment (Fc) contains the constant domains (C_H2 and C_H3) that mediate effector function by binding to immunological receptor molecules such as complement proteins and Fc receptors.

The multifunctional nature of IgGs is only one of the many reasons for the widespread interest in using monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) as therapeutics. The availability and refinement of robust methods for identifying and generating human mAbs, such as immunization and in vitro screening methods (2), have also contributed greatly to the interest in antibody therapeutics. In addition, mAbs typically display excellent pharmacokinetics (long circulation times), low toxicity and immunogenicity (for human or humanized mAbs), and high stability and solubility. It is also notable that the simplicity of expressing and purifying many different mAbs using similar platform processes is highly attractive from a manufacturing perspective and has enabled the production of a staggering number of different mAbs that are in clinical trials (3).



Molecular architecture of an immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) antibody. An IgG consists of two heavy chains (*blue*) and two light chains (*pink*). (*Left*) The crystal structure of an antigen-binding fragment (Fab; Protein Data Bank identification number, 3NZ8). The Fab is composed of variable heavy (V_H) and light (V_L) domains as well as two constant domains (C_H1 and C_L). Each variable domain displays three binding loops (complementarity-determining regions, CDRs), which mediate antigen recognition. The CDRs in the V_H domain are denoted as H1, H2, and H3 (*blue*); the CDRs in the V_L domain are denoted as L1, L2, and L3 (*pink*). (*Rigbt*) The crystallizable fragment (Fc; Protein Data Bank identification number, 1E4K) contains two constant domains (C_H2 and C_H3) as well as glycans in the C_H2 domain (*green*). The Fc fragment mediates antibody effector function.

Nevertheless, there are many challenges in generating mAbs for therapeutic applications. At the discovery stage, immunization affords limited control over antibody affinity and specificity due to the difficulty in controlling antigen presentation to the immune system. In vitro methods, such as phage and yeast surface display, enable improved control over antigen presentation. However, these display methods are limited by their need to screen large libraries, their typical use of antibody fragments instead of full-length antibodies, and their reduced quality-control mechanisms relative to mammalian systems. Moreover, antibodies identified via either immunization or display methods have variable and difficult-to-predict solubilities and viscosities at the high concentrations required for subcutaneous delivery (4, 5). Antibody aggregation is particularly concerning due to the potential immunogenicity of such aggregates (6), and abnormally high viscosity can prevent mAbs from being delivered via the subcutaneous route (7). It is also challenging to optimize bispecific antibodies that typically combine binding domains from different parent antibodies, given the large number of possible molecular architectures as well as the complex effects that these nonstandard antibody formats can have on antibody stability. Moreover, developing effective antibody-drug conjugates is extremely challenging due to the need to optimize the linker and conjugation chemistry as well as the location and number of attached drug molecules. Finally, it is difficult to engineer antibodies with the specific types and levels of effector functions that are optimal for a given therapeutic application.

Although each of these challenges can be addressed through screening a large number of antibody variants, it is impractical to use such screening methods alone to address many of the challenges encountered in developing potent therapeutic antibodies. Attempts to optimize each antibody property sequentially are limited by the fact that improving one antibody attribute (such as binding affinity) can lead to defects in other attributes (such as solubility). Attempts to simultaneously optimize multiple antibody properties using mutagenesis and screening methods require libraries that are prohibitively large.



Key attributes of antibodies that must be collectively optimized to generate effective immunoglobulins for different applications. A key challenge is that optimizing one property can lead to deleterious impacts on others.

2. OVERVIEW OF APPROACHES FOR DESIGNING ANTIBODIES

The complexity of optimizing several different antibody attributes (summarized in **Figure 2**) using traditional immunization and screening methods has led to intense interest in developing antibodydesign methods. The most important antibody attributes are binding affinity and specificity, which involve optimizing the variable domains and the CDRs in particular. Colloidal stability (solubility) and conformational (folding) stability are also critical attributes of antibodies because therapeutic mAbs must be soluble for high-concentration delivery and stable for long-term storage. This typically requires optimizing solvent-exposed residues for solubility and solvent-shielded residues for conformational stability. The effector functions of antibodies are also critical to their bioactivity, and can be tailored by manipulating the hinge and Fc regions.

Another increasingly important antibody attribute—which is uncommon in natural antibodies—is bispecificity for either multiple antigens or multiple epitopes on the same antigen. Achieving bispecificity requires methods for combining multiple antibodies into a single one as well as optimizing the key attributes of conventional antibodies. A second nonconventional attribute of antibodies that continues to grow in importance is their bioactivity when attached to small-molecule drugs. Developing antibody–drug conjugates (ADCs) requires optimizing many aspects of the chemistries and linkers used to derivatize antibodies in addition to the other key attributes of conventional antibodies.

This review highlights progress in designing and optimizing each of these key antibody attributes. Given the large size and complexity of antibodies, most design efforts have focused on redesigning or optimizing existing antibodies rather than on de novo design of new antibodies. These design methods vary greatly, and range from knowledge-based methods based on previous mutagenesis results to advanced computational methods based on first principles. A commonality of these diverse methods is that they attempt to guide the design of antibodies in a systematic manner to reduce the need for screening and immunization methods. We discuss these design methods and their application to improve the properties of antibodies that are critical for their activity and stability.

3. ANTIBODY BINDING AFFINITY AND SPECIFICITY

The most important property of antibodies is their ability to recognize targets with high affinity and specificity. This binding activity is largely mediated by the CDRs. Several innovative approaches have been developed for designing CDRs that range from de novo design methods to those that involve the redesign of existing antibodies. Some of these design methods have used motif-grafting approaches to mimic natural protein interactions, and directed evolution approaches to achieve specificities for difficult-to-target antigens.

3.1. De Novo Design

The holy grail of antibody design is to accurately and reliably predict the sequences of antibodies that will bind with high affinity and specificity based solely on the sequence or composition of the antigen. Toward this ambitious goal, a computational approach named OptCDR (Optimal Complementarity Determining Regions) has been developed for designing the CDRs of antibodies to recognize specific epitopes on a target antigen (8). This method uses canonical structures to generate CDR backbone conformations that are predicted to interact favorably with the antigen. Amino acids are then chosen for each position in the CDRs using rotamer libraries, and this process is repeated many times to refine the backbone structures and amino acid sequences. This leads to the prediction of several sets of CDR sequences, which can be grafted onto antibody scaffolds for evaluation.

This approach has been tested for developing antibody–antigen complexes involving a hepatitis C virus capsid peptide, fluorescein, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (8). The investigators predicted mutations that are expected to increase binding affinity (which were not evaluated experimentally) as well as evaluated mutations that had been reported previously to improve binding affinity for fluorescein antibodies. There is some correlation between predictions by OptCDR and experimental data for fluorescein antibodies. It will be important to further evaluate the ability of OptCDR and closely related methods (9) to make de novo predictions of CDR mutations as well as entire CDR sequences that either generate or improve antibody binding.

3.2. Design by Mimicking Natural Protein Interactions

Another fruitful approach for designing antibodies with specific binding activities has been to mimic natural protein interactions. For example, Williamson and colleagues (10) designed

antibodies to recognize misfolded conformers of the prion protein (PrP) by mimicking natural interactions between cellular PrP (PrP^C) and its misfolded counterpart (PrP^{Sc}). Previous studies had found that PrP residues 96–104 and 133–158 govern the ability of PrP^{Sc} to catalyze misfolding of soluble PrP^C (11, 12). This led to the hypothesis that grafting such PrP peptides into heavy chain CDR3 (HCDR3) of an IgG—which originally lacks PrP-binding activity—would create antibodies that specifically recognized PrP^{Sc} (10). Indeed, they found that antibodies with PrP residues 89–112 or 136–158 in HCDR3 bound to PrP^{Sc} with apparent affinities in the low nanomolar range (2–25 nM), and these same antibodies weakly interacted with PrP^C. Follow-up studies also identified a third region near the N terminus of PrP (residues 19–33) that resulted in binding activity for grafted PrP antibodies (13). Interestingly, grafting peptides from other PrP regions (such as those from the C-terminal domain) into the same CDR loop failed to generate binding activity. Moreover, the antibodies grafted with PrP residues 19–33 and 89–112 appear to bind via electrostatic interactions because mutating positively charged residues to alanine in these grafted peptides eliminated binding.

This exciting study raises the question of whether grafting peptides from other aggregationprone proteins into the CDRs of antibodies would also lead to specific binding activity. Our lab recently tested this question using the Alzheimer's $A\beta 42$ peptide (14). There are two hydrophobic segments within A β (residues 17–21 and 30–42) that mediate amyloid formation and are located within the β -sheet core of A β fibrils (15). We posited that grafting these peptide segments into CDR3 of a single-domain (V_H) antibody would lead to antibody domains with A β -specific binding activity. Indeed, we found that grafted $V_{\rm H}$ domains displaying the central hydrophobic region of A β (residues 17–21) in CDR3 bound to A β fibrils with submicromolar affinity (300–400 nM), and they weakly bound to A β monomers or oligomers (14). Interestingly, V_H domains grafted with the hydrophobic C terminus of A β (residues 30–42) bound both A β fibrils and oligomers with submicromolar affinity (300–700 nM) and weakly recognized A β monomers. We refer to these grafted antibodies as gammabodies (Grafted AMyloid-Motif AntiBODIES). We have also verified that this grafting approach can be applied to other amyloid-forming proteins, including α -synuclein (associated with Parkinson's disease) and IAPP (associated with type 2 diabetes) (16). Nevertheless, future work will need to develop more systematic methods for selecting amyloidogenic peptides for grafting because we currently do not understand why some sequences mediate binding and others do not. Moreover, it will be important to evaluate how multiple CDR loops can be engineered to display amyloidogenic peptides on the surface of single- and multidomain antibodies to improve the affinities of these grafted antibodies.

3.3. Semirational Design Combined with Directed Evolution Methods

Despite these key advances in the de novo design of CDRs, it has been extremely challenging to use such rational approaches to generate antibodies with subnanomolar (or lower) dissociation constants. Nevertheless, several innovative approaches have been developed that involve designing some CDR residues while randomizing others, and screening such libraries using in vitro display methods to select variants with high binding affinity and specificity. One of the first examples of this hybrid approach was the design of antibody libraries specific for integrins (17). The RGD sequence (arginine-glycine-aspartate) was inserted in the middle of HCDR3, and three flanking residues were randomized on each side of the RGD sequence. In addition, cysteines were introduced at each edge of HCDR3 to constrain the loop, which was posited to be necessary to generate high affinity for antibody binding that is mediated primarily via a single CDR. The investigators displayed a Fab library with these HCDR3 sequences on the surface of phage and screened for binding to integrins. Impressively, several antibody variants were identified with subnanomolar binding



Nature-inspired design and evolution of phospho-specific antibodies. This approach uses natural anion-binding motifs within the complementarity-determining regions (CDRs) of antibodies to generate libraries for identifying antibodies specific for phosphoserine, phosphotyrosine, and phosphothreonine (20). The first round of randomization and selection yields antibodies with anion-binding motifs specific for each type of modification, and the second round identifies antibodies with heavy chain CDR3 (HCDR3) and light chain CDR3 (LCDR3) loops that are specific for different phosphopeptides. Figure redrawn from Reference 21.

affinities, and these antibodies retained the same binding epitope as natural integrin ligands. This and related work (18, 19) has demonstrated the potential of using natural protein interactions to guide the design of high quality antibody libraries.

Another example of this hybrid approach is a method for generating antibodies that recognize post-translational modifications (20, 21). It is difficult to isolate antibodies that recognize chemical modifications such as phosphorylation, especially for phosphoserine and phosphothreonine, because of the relatively small size of their side chains. Therefore, the investigators sought to introduce a common phosphate-binding motif from proteins such as kinases into the CDRs of antibodies (**Figure 3**). By identifying an antibody with a CDR loop (HCDR2) that naturally displays a similar anion-binding motif, the investigators first confirmed that this antibody bound weakly to phosphorylated peptides. Next, the affinities and specificities of such antibodies for phosphorylated serine, threeonine, and tyrosine were evolved by randomizing sites within the anion-binding

motif. After mutants were identified by phage display with selective and improved affinity for each type of modification, CDR residues outside the phospho-binding pocket in HCDR2 as well as in LCDR3 and HCDR3 were randomized, and antibodies were selected for binding to different phosphorylated targets. Impressively, this approach generated many phospho-specific antibodies for a wide range of target peptides with modified serine and threonine in addition to tyrosine. Although the binding affinities are modest (40–5,000 nM), they are similar to or better than those for previously reported phospho-specific antibodies [see (20) and references therein]. More importantly, this innovative approach to designing antibody libraries addresses the challenging problem of achieving binding specificities to subtly different antigens that are difficult to obtain using immunization.

3.4. Antibody Redesign and Optimization

Much effort has focused on using design methods to improve the binding affinity of existing antibodies due to the complexity of de novo design. These redesign efforts are important because immunization typically yields antibodies with affinities that are not high enough for therapeutic applications, and directed evolution approaches are limited in their ability to identify multiple synergistic mutations, given the unrealistically large libraries that would be required.

One interesting study demonstrated the potential of optimizing electrostatic interactions to improve the binding affinity of antibodies (22). The authors used physics-based methods to initially evaluate the binding energy of an anti-lysozyme antibody (D1.3); every possible mutation was evaluated for 60 CDR positions using the crystal structure of the complex as a starting point. Interestingly, the mutations predicted to be most favorable were those that introduced large side chains into the binding interface to maximize van der Waals interactions, yet most of these mutations failed to improve affinity when evaluated experimentally. Instead, the electrostatic component of the binding energy was found to be a better predictor of mutations that improve affinity. This approach led to significant improvements in affinity (of one to two orders of magnitude) for cetuximab and an anti-lysozyme antibody (D44.1).

The success of this study stems largely from two key types of mutations within the CDRs. One is the elimination of residues with unsatisfied polar groups (e.g., side chains of asparagine or threonine) in which desolvation is not compensated for by favorable interactions (e.g., hydrogen bonds) in the bound state (22). By mutating such residues to small hydrophobic ones, the authors observed increased binding affinity. A second key type of mutation is either the introduction or removal of charged residues at sites within the CDRs that are peripheral to the residues that contact the antigen in the nonoptimized complex. This finding builds on previous work demonstrating that charged residues outside the antibody–antigen interface but within the CDRs can increase the on-rate (and thereby the affinity) of an anti-VEGF antibody (23). More generally, these findings are consistent with other studies revealing that the likelihood of identifying beneficial mutations is higher outside the initial binding interface (24–27), likely due to the reduced risk of disrupting existing antibody–antigen interactions. This (22) and related work (24–26, 28, 29) have demonstrated the potential of using existing methods for calculating electrostatic interactions to identify mutations that improve antibody affinity.

Another study elegantly showed that it is not necessary to use the crystal structures of antibodies or antibody–antigen complexes to guide efforts to improve affinity or alter binding specificity (25). The investigators sought to redesign a dengue virus antibody (4E11) to be broadly neutralizing. This is particularly challenging because the starting structures were unknown for both the 4E11 antibody alone or when bound to its antigen (domain III of the dengue E protein). Nevertheless, the authors used computational docking methods to generate structures of the 4E11 antibody

bound to four variants of the dengue E protein. Notably, the poor interaction between 4E11 and its antigen from one serotype (type 4) stems from the loss of key interactions (such as salt bridges and hydrogen bonds) that are predicted to be present in binding interfaces of the antibody with antigens from types 1–3. These insights led to the identification of several mutations that improve 4E11 binding to type 4 without reducing binding to types 1–3. By combining successful mutations, the affinity for type 4 was enhanced by more than two orders of magnitude without reducing affinity for other serotypes. Most of the successful mutations were charged or polar, and located at the periphery of the binding interface, which is generally consistent with findings from other studies (22–24, 26). This exciting study highlights the potential of using design methods to achieve unique binding specificities that are difficult to achieve using conventional discovery methods.

4. ANTIBODY CONFORMATIONAL (FOLDING) STABILITY

Another key attribute of antibodies is their folding stability (30, 31), which is critical for maintaining long-term activity. Folding stability is a particularly important consideration when altering the CDRs of antibodies to improve binding affinity and specificity. Several studies have demonstrated that either grafting CDRs from one antibody to another or mutating CDRs can significantly affect folding stability (32–36). More generally, mutations that are located outside of the CDRs can also significantly impact folding stability (37–40). These challenges necessitate design methods that can rationally stabilize antibodies without compromising binding affinity and other key attributes.

The high degree of sequence similarity between different antibodies, as well as the large number of available antibody sequences and structures, has led to significant understanding in how to stabilize antibodies. These approaches can be classified as (*a*) knowledge-based, (*b*) statistical, and (*c*) structure-based methods. Knowledge-based methods are those that rely on previous experimental studies in which stabilizing mutations or scaffolds have been identified (31, 36, 37, 41). Importantly, this general approach does not depend on natural antibody sequences and also includes mutations that are rare or absent in conventional antibody repertoires. Statistical methods use consensus approaches to identify stabilizing mutations based on the assumption that the most common antibody sequences are optimal (31, 39, 42). This approach can be used in powerful ways to evaluate not only the consensus of individual positions but also pairwise and higher order conservation at noncontiguous sites, such as interfaces between antibody domains (43). Structure-based methods are computational approaches that use either existing or predicted antibody structures to identify stabilizing mutations (24, 27, 44).

The combination of the three approaches is especially powerful, which was demonstrated in a study of an unstable single-chain variable fragment (scFv) (44). The investigators sought to stabilize this scFv (initial melting temperature of 51°C) to the point that it could be fused to an IgG to generate a bispecific antibody with both high activity and stability. They used (*a*) knowledgebased approaches (31); (*b*) statistical methods, such as covariation and frequency analysis (37, 43); and (*c*) structure-based methods, such as Rosetta (45) and molecular simulations (46), to predict positions within the scFv that are most important to stability. This led to the identification of 18 stabilizing mutations at 10 different positions (44). These included single mutations that increased the melting temperature significantly (67°C for a variant with P101D in V_H) as well as combinations of mutations that were even more stabilizing (melting temperature of 82°C for a variant with S16E, V55G, and P101D in V_H , and S46L in V_L).

Four of these stabilizing mutations are featured in **Figure 4**. Two are located at the V_H-V_L interface (V_H P101D and V_L S46L), which has been shown to be critical in determining the overall stability of Fv and scFv antibody fragments (37, 40, 43, 47, 48). The negatively charged mutation

Mutations identified using structure-based and related design methods that enhance the conformational (folding) stability of antibody fragments. Four mutations were introduced into the variable domains of a poorly stable antibody fragment (red) that generated a more stable one (green) (44). The crystal structures were obtained from the Protein Data Bank: (top) 3HC0 and (bottom) 3HC4. Abbreviations: λ_{em} , average (center of mass) fluorescence emission wavelength. Data from Reference 44.



(V_H P101D) forms a salt bridge with a neighboring residue (V_H R98), and the hydrophobic mutation (V_L S46L) increases van der Waals contacts and induces favorable structural changes in neighboring residues. The other two stabilizing mutations in the V_H domain are located far from the V_H–V_L interface. The V_H S16E mutation appears to be stabilizing due to electrostatic interactions (it is located in a positively charged region) as well as favorable van der Waals interactions involving the aliphatic side chain (which is longer for glutamic acid than serine). The V55G mutation is located in a turn near HCDR2 and appears to stabilize the scFv by eliminating strain caused by the unfavorable φ and ψ angles for valine at this position.

Many other impactful studies have also demonstrated rational approaches for stabilizing antibodies. One approach is to introduce additional intramolecular disulfide bonds within singledomain antibodies as well as interdomain disulfide bonds within Fvs and scFvs to increase folding stability (49–52). These methods have yielded significant improvements in stability, although in some cases they have resulted in reduced expression. In addition, much effort has focused on optimizing the V_H-V_L interfaces using noncysteine mutations (40, 43, 48). This is important to improve both thermodynamic and kinetic folding stability (especially for Fvs and scFvs) (30, 47), and to reduce the complexity of the resulting antibodies by avoiding additional disulfide bonds. These and related studies (38, 41, 53, 54) are improving the systematic and robust optimization of antibody conformational stability.

5. ANTIBODY COLLOIDAL STABILITY (SOLUBILITY)

The colloidal stability of antibodies—which is governed by solvent-exposed residues in their native folded structure—is not as well understood as conformational stability. Nevertheless, colloidal stability is also a critical attribute of antibodies, especially for those antibodies with high conformational stability (as observed for many IgGs) (4, 5, 55). There are three key elements of antibodies that impact their solubility, namely the (*a*) CDRs, (*b*) frameworks of the variable and constant domains, and (*c*) glycans. CDRs commonly contain hydrophobic and charged residues to mediate high-affinity binding, yet these same residues can also mediate antibody self-association and aggregation (35, 56–60). Therefore, mutations in the CDRs can significantly impact antibody solubility (24, 35, 56–59). The frameworks of antibodies are also important determinants of their solubility (24, 56, 58, 61, 62). These regions typically contain hydrophobic patches (e.g., Fc receptor-binding sites) and oppositely charged domains that can interact with themselves or with the CDRs, leading to poor solubility. Glycans also significantly impact solubility, typically in a positive manner (24, 63, 64).

An excellent study of the impact of each of these factors on antibody solubility is summarized in **Figure 5** (61). The investigators sought to improve the poor solubility of an antibody specific for the glycoprotein LINGO-1. Because this antibody has excellent (subnanomolar) binding affinity and high bioactivity, multiple strategies were pursued to increase its solubility without reducing binding activity. The first approach was to switch the antibody framework from an IgG1 framework to IgG2 and IgG4 frameworks. Surprisingly, this simple change resulted in dramatic increases in solubility for both frameworks (increase from <1 to >30 mg/mL). The origin of these improvements is not clear given that the isoelectric points of the three variants are all high (>pH 8.2), and the IgG2 and IgG4 variants display folding stabilities that are similar to or lower than that of the parent IgG1 antibody.

Given the preference of specific IgG subtypes for different therapeutic applications, the investigators also evaluated the impact of CDR mutations and glycans on the solubility of the parent IgG1 (anti-LINGO-1) antibody (**Figure 5**). Hydrophobic residues in HCDR2 (isoleucine 57), HCDR3 (tryptophan 104), and LCDR3 (tryptophan 94) were mutated to be less hydrophobic



Design methods for increasing antibody solubility. Multiple approaches were found to increase the solubility of a glycoprotein LINGO-1 antibody and to have little impact on binding affinity. Data from Reference 61. Abbreviations: CDR, complementarity-determining region; IgG, immunoglobulin G.

or polar residues. Multiple mutations at these sites improved solubility by more than an order of magnitude without reducing binding affinity. Glycosylation was also found to significantly impact the solubility of the wild-type antibody. For example, removing the glycans from the IgG2 and IgG4 variants reduced the solubility to levels similar to those of the parent IgG1 antibody (either with or without glycans), suggesting that the glycans of the non-IgG1 variants are critical to their superior solubility. The authors also introduced glycosylation sites within the C_H1 domain of the IgG1 antibody at four different positions. Interestingly, the solubilizing activity of the glycosylation variants was high for two mutants (>50 mg/mL) and modest for the others (3–5 mg/mL), and the differences were not predictable based on the proximity of the glycosylation sites to the variable domains.

Several additional studies have used related approaches to improve antibody solubility. For example, multiple studies have reported how the sequences for CDRs, both of antibody fragments and full-length antibodies, can be engineered to increase solubility without compromising binding activity (35, 46, 56–59). These studies have also revealed that the location of aggregation hot spots within the CDRs is variable, and identifying effective sites for mutation requires the use of systematic design approaches (46, 57, 59, 65–67). Significant progress has also been made in engineering the frameworks of antibodies for high solubility by introducing charged mutations

at sites that do not compromise folding stability (58, 62, 64, 68). Moreover, nonconventional glycosylation sites have been identified in the CDRs that significantly increase antibody solubility without reducing affinity (58). These and related studies (69–71) are improving the systematic engineering of highly soluble antibodies.

6. ANTIBODY EFFECTOR FUNCTION

Much of the bioactivity of antibodies stems from their ability to link antigen binding to the recruitment of immune cells and related factors that mediate a range of effector functions (72, 73). It is critical to optimize this activity when generating antibody therapeutics. Effector functions include antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), antibody-dependent cell-mediated phagocytosis (ADCP), and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC). The first two activities (ADCC and ADCP) are strongly dependent on the strength and specificity of interactions between antibody Fc domains and Fc γ receptors on natural killer cells, macrophages, and other immune cells. CDC depends on the interaction of Fc domains with C1q, which leads to noncellular and cellular mechanisms of cytotoxicity. It is desirable to reduce effector functions when therapeutic antibodies target cell-surface proteins on immune (and related) cells, while the opposite is true when antibodies target pathogenic cells.

There are two key approaches to controlling the level and type of effector functions for conventional antibodies, namely (*a*) engineering the sequences of Fc and hinge regions, and (*b*) modulating the amount and type of Fc glycosylation. The first approach builds on the identification of residues within the Fc domain that normally interact with Fc γ receptors and C1q (74–77). One method for identifying such residues is to make chimeras of different IgG isotypes that naturally display dissimilar abilities to elicit ADCC and CDC (78–80). Another method is to use systematic alanine mutagenesis of the Fc domain to identify residues involved in binding to different Fc γ receptors or C1q. One such study not only identified mutations that reduce Fc binding to activating Fc γ receptors (Fc γ RI, Fc γ RIIa, and Fc γ RIIIa) but also identified alanine mutations that improve binding affinity to specific Fc γ receptors and increase ADCC (74). These insights are critical for improving the design of Fc domains with specific types and levels of effector function.

Indeed, others have built on these interesting studies to further increase Fc affinity and specificity for key Fc γ receptors without altering CDC (81–84). Some of these studies used computational design methods (82). These methods are challenging to implement successfully because (*a*) the Fc binding sites on Fc γ receptors and C1q partially overlap, (*b*) Fc γ receptors bind homodimeric Fc fragments in an asymmetrical manner (which requires calculation of the effects of mutations at two different binding interfaces), and (*c*) there is limited structural data for some Fc γ receptors bound to Fc domains. Nevertheless, this structure-based approach yielded multiple mutations that, in combination, led to significant improvements in binding affinity to an activating Fc γ receptor (Fc γ RIIIa) and ADCC without reducing CDC (similar mutations are highlighted in **Figure 6**) (82). A limitation of this study is that these mutations also increased affinity for the key inhibitory Fc receptor (Fc γ RIIb), although the preference for activating Fc γ receptors was maintained. The need for high specificity and affinity for a subset of Fc γ receptors highlights the need for design methods that can guide the optimization of Fc domains for different therapeutic applications.

The fact that the binding sites for $Fc\gamma$ receptors and C1q partially overlap raises the question of whether mutations can be identified that simultaneously increase both ADCC and CDC to enable superior effector function. Indeed, structure-based and screening methods have led to the identification of several mutations at sites near the $Fc\gamma$ and C1q binding sites that can simultaneously increase both effector functions (**Figure 6**) (85). These and related findings (86, 87) are



Structure-guided design and selection of crystallizable fragment (Fc) mutations that increase complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC). (*a*) Residues in the heavy chain constant domain C_{H2} (Protein Data Bank identification number, 1E4K) that form the putative C1q binding center. (*b*) Mutations identified using structure-based methods that increase CDC (85). Evaluation of (*c*) CDC and (*d*) antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) of wild-type and three mutants of an immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) anti-CD20 antibody. Data from Reference 85.

particularly exciting given that they have led to reengineered antibodies with moderate to high CDC, even for antibodies without any initial CDC activity. Nevertheless, the requirement for high opsonization density in CDC leads to significant target-specific differences in activity for the same engineered Fc domains (85). This necessitates the ability to tailor the Fc affinity for C1q to obtain suitable CDC levels for different therapeutic applications.

Another powerful approach for modulating the effector function of conventional antibodies is to alter the amount and type of glycosylation (88). The removal of glycans greatly reduces Fc affinity for low-affinity Fc receptors (e.g., Fc γ RIIa and Fc γ RIIa) and significantly reduces ADCC (89). This typically causes aglycosylated antibodies produced in bacteria to lack effector function (90). Nevertheless, structure-based design and high-throughput screening methods have identified mutations within the Fc domain of aglycosylated antibodies that increase affinity for low-affinity Fc receptors (e.g., Fc γ RIIa) as well as high-affinity ones (e.g., Fc γ RIa), leading to significant effector function (91, 92). Modifying the composition of glycans can also significantly modulate effector function. For example, increasing the amount of terminal galactose residues increases CDC activity but does not affect ADCC (93). Reducing the amount of core fucose residues significantly improves Fc affinity for Fc γ RIIIa receptors—which appears to be due to reduced steric hindrance at the binding interface (94)—and improves ADCC without altering C1q binding affinity (95). These and related approaches (96) to modifying glycan compositions can be combined with engineered Fc domains to obtain even larger increases in effector function (95, 97, 98).

7. ANTIBODY-DRUG CONJUGATES

Another important approach to improving the cytotoxicity of antibody therapeutics is to chemically link them to cytotoxic drugs (99, 100). This is particularly important for treating cancer because many antibodies that target surface antigens on cancer cells lack therapeutic activity (101, 102). Although methods for making ADCs are simple in theory, the generation of safe and effective drug conjugates has been extremely challenging in practice. This is due to several potential problems with ADCs, including (a) reduced bioactivity of conjugated drugs, (b) reduced binding affinity or specificity of modified antibodies, (c) premature release of the conjugated drug, (d) insufficient cellular internalization, and (e) short circulation times and poor biodistribution. These challenges require systematic approaches to optimize multiple aspects of ADCs, including the antibodies and drugs themselves, the sites on the antibodies that are modified, the chemistries for attaching such drugs, and the linker between the antibody and the drug.

Most ADCs are generated by attaching drugs to cysteines or lysines exposed on the antibody's surface. Lysine attachment is nonspecific and leads to a heterogeneous mixture of ADCs with modifications in both the Fab and Fc domains (103). Cysteine attachment is more specific and can be conducted using either solvent-exposed cysteines after partial or full reduction of interchain disulfide bonds (such as those in the hinge region) (104–106) or engineered cysteines in the Fab or Fc domains (107–109). Other site-specific chemical approaches include introducing rare (selenocysteine) or nonnatural amino acids into the antibody and linking them to drugs using chemistries that do not modify common amino acids (110, 111). Multiple site-specific enzymatic approaches have also been developed that activate sugars or specific amino acids within small peptide tags, and these also show promise for simplifying the generation of homogeneous ADCs (112–114).

An elegant study that addressed several of the factors influencing ADC activity is highlighted in **Figure 7** (109). The investigators sought to evaluate the bioactivity of ADCs prepared by attaching drugs to engineered cysteines at different sites in the Fab and Fc domains. Single cysteine mutations were introduced at sites with differing solvent accessibilities and local charge environments. The light chain mutation (V205C) is the least solvent-accessible and is located in a positively charged region, and the Fc mutation (S396C) is the most solvent-accessible and is located in a neutrally charged region (as is the other heavy chain mutation, A114C, which displays an intermediate level of solvent accessibility). Maleimide-based conjugation of these trastuzumab variants with a cytotoxic drug (monomethyl auristatin E) led to similar in vitro potency for killing cancer cells. However, the in vivo activity of the three ADCs was dissimilar: activity was highest for the ADC prepared using the mutant with the least solvent-accessible cysteine (light chain V205C) and lowest for the ADC prepared using the mutant with the most-accessible cysteine (Fc S396C).

Analysis of in vivo ADC stability revealed that loss of the conjugated drug correlated with reduced activity (109). This appears to be due to the low stability of the cysteine–maleimide linkage. Increasing the solvent accessibility of this linkage enables maleimide exchange with serum components, such as albumin and glutathione. Moreover, the positively charged environment of the light chain mutant (V205C) appears to promote hydrolysis of the succinimide ring, which prevents maleimide exchange and increases ADC stability. This excellent study, which is based



Design and evaluation of the bioactivity of antibodies conjugated at different sites with a cytotoxic drug. (*a*) The sites mutated to cysteine are highlighted in the crystal structures of the antigen-binding fragment (Fab) and crystallizable fragment (Fc), and (*b*) these sites show a range of solvent accessibilities. (*c*) Evaluation of the clearance rates of antibodies injected into mice. Although the total antibody levels were similar for injections of each antibody–drug conjugate (ADC), the fraction of intact ADC was highest for the light chain (LC) variant V205C and lowest for the Fc S396C variant. (*d*) Mice dosed equally with each ADC showed significant differences in survival, and these differences were consistent with the fraction of intact ADC. Abbreviation: HC, heavy chain. Figure adapted with permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd.: *Nature Biotechnology* (109), copyright 2012.

on a small set of cysteine mutants, paves the way for future studies to better define how antibody sequence and structure, as well as conjugation chemistry, influence ADC stability and activity.

Several other key studies have demonstrated how the activity of ADCs can be optimized in a systematic manner. For example, low ratios of drug to antibody (\leq 4 drugs per antibody) are typically optimal because high drug loading can lead to fast antibody clearance and a low therapeutic index (the ratio of the maximum tolerated to the minimum effective doses) (115). The linker between the antibody and drug is also critical because it must be stable prior to cellular internalization and then cleavable after internalization for cytotoxicity [see (116) for encouraging results with noncleavable linkers] (100, 117, 118). Linkers that include peptide bonds appear particularly attractive, given their stability in serum and ability to be cleaved by proteases after cellular internalization (117). These and related findings (119) are improving the rational design of potent and safe ADCs for diverse therapeutic applications.

8. **BISPECIFIC ANTIBODIES**

Another important approach to improving the therapeutic activity of mAbs is to engineer them to recognize multiple targets (120–123). Such bispecific antibodies hold great promise for improving



Molecular architectures of bispecific monoclonal antibodies (mAbs). Two mAbs are recombined into different bispecific architectures. A quadroma Triomab (Trion Pharma, Munich, Germany) comprises one heavy chain–light chain pair of a rat immunoglobulin G2 (IgG2) and one heavy chain–light chain pair of a murine IgG2 antibody (128). The knobs-into-holes architecture consists of an opposing cavity and protrusion in the heavy chain constant C_{H3} domains to enforce the heteropairing of heavy chains (127). The CrossMAb (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) architecture involves swapping the light chain constant C_L and the heavy chain constant C_H1 domains onto opposite chains to enforce correct light-chain pairing, and also uses knobs-into-holes mutations to enforce correct heavy-chain pairing (140). Dual-variable-domain antibodies have the variable domains from one antibody added to the N terminus of the heavy and light chains of the other antibody (142). IgG–scFv (single-chain variable fragment) bispecific antibodies contain the variable domains of one antibody—which are reformatted as an scFv—fused to the terminus of the heavy or light chains of the second antibody (132).

therapeutic activity because they can potentially improve antibody activity in several ways. These include (*a*) improving effector function by targeting specific immune cells in addition to the therapeutic target, (*b*) enhancing antibody delivery to different organs (such as the brain) by targeting transport proteins in addition to the therapeutic target, (*c*) increasing specificity for pathogenic cells by targeting two cell-surface antigens instead of only one, and (*d*) improving the robustness and persistence of therapeutic activity by blocking two different biological pathways. These and related advantages of bispecific antibodies have driven much interest in their development and optimization.

Design methods have played a central part in generating bispecific antibodies because of the large number of potential molecular architectures. The most important architectures are (*a*) full-length antibodies composed of two different heavy chains (with the same or different light chains) (124–129), (*b*) full-length antibodies with additional variable domains (123, 130–134), and (*c*) antibody fragments lacking Fc domains, such as scFvs and diabodies (135, 136). Most current efforts are focused on developing the first two types of bispecific antibodies (which are highlighted in **Figure 8**) because they are more similar to conventional antibodies, and possess Fc domains for mediating effector function and antibody recycling.

The main challenges in generating bispecific antibodies composed of two different heavy chains are ensuring (*a*) correct heteropairing of the heavy chains and (*b*) correct pairing of the light chains with their corresponding heavy chains. Early efforts to address both challenges exploited the unique pairing preferences of rat and mouse IgG2 heavy and light chains (**Figure 8**) (128). The light chains of each species prefer to pair with their cognate heavy chains, and the heavy chains show little preference, forming both homo- and heteropairs. The fact that rat heavy chains do not bind Protein A enables selective purification of bispecific antibodies (which are referred to as quadroma Triomabs).

Due to the immunogenicity of these nonhuman antibodies, several other creative approaches have been developed for use with human antibodies (**Figure 8**) (124–127, 129, 137, 138). The knobs-into-holes approach involves engineering the C_H3 domains of one antibody to possess a knob, which is typically a solvent-exposed residue at the C_H3-C_H3 interface with a bulky side chain (e.g., tryptophan) (126, 127, 139). The C_H3 domain on the other antibody is engineered to possess a hole by replacing several residues at the interdomain interface with those possessing smaller side chains (e.g., tyrosine mutated to valine). Methods of designing antibodies have also been used to identify additional C_H3 mutations to improve the specificity of heterochain pairing for knobs-into-holes and closely related approaches (124, 126, 139). These include cysteine mutations for forming disulfide bonds between different C_H3 domains (126), and oppositely charged mutations for mediating attractive electrostatic interactions between different C_H3 domains, as well as repulsive interactions between the same ones (124).

These powerful approaches address the problem of pairing different heavy chains, but do not directly address the problem of the proper pairing of light chains. This issue can be circumvented either using a common light chain (126) or through assembling two different antibodies after their production by first dissociating the heavy chains without dissociating the light chains (126, 127). A more direct approach would be one that does not require a common light chain or separate production of both antibodies followed by in vitro dissociation and assembly. An interesting potential solution to this problem is to swap the constant domain of one of the light chains (C_L) with the $C_H 1$ domain of one of the heavy chains (**Figure 8**) (140). The resulting modified light chain prefers to pair with the modified heavy chain. Other related domain crossovers, such as swapping V_H and V_L , are less useful because they also mediate the formation of side products. Nevertheless, the CrossMAb (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) approach of swapping $C_H 1$ and C_L domains can be combined with knobs-into-holes methods to produce bispecific antibodies in cell lines expressing four different heavy and light chains without the need for in vitro dissociation and reassembly (140).

Importantly, the success of this $C_H 1/C_L$ crossover approach requires that the constant domains govern the pairing specificity of heavy and light chains, and that the variable domains have little impact on this specificity. This is logical because the $C_H 1-C_L$ interface contributes significantly to the folding stability of Fab fragments (47). However, it appears that the V_H-V_L interface also plays an important part in determining the specificity of heavy and light chain pairing for some antibodies (141). Therefore, computational design and screening methods have been used to identify mutations at the V_H-V_L interface that improve the pairing specificity of mutant heavy and light chains. Interestingly, the best designs required mutations in both the variable (V_H and V_L) and constant ($C_H 1$ and C_L) domains, suggesting that both types of domains contribute to the pairing specificity of heavy and light chains. Nevertheless, more work is needed to evaluate the generality of these findings and their utility for designing bispecific antibodies with architectures similar to conventional antibodies.

Another powerful approach for combining two existing antibodies that ensures proper light chain pairing is to add the variable domains from one antibody to the termini of the light or heavy chains (or both) of the second antibody (**Figure 8**). The simplest way to do this is to add the variable domains from one antibody to the N terminus of the heavy ($V_H1-V_H2-C_H1-C_H2-C_H3$) and light ($V_L1-V_L2-C_L$) chains of the second antibody to produce dual-variable-domain antibodies (142, 143). A related approach is to attach the variable domains from one antibody—in the form of an scFv in which the V_H and V_L domains are linked together via a peptide linker—to the terminus of either the heavy or light chains of the second antibody to produce IgG–scFv fusions (37, 123, 130–134, 144). These and related approaches are attractive because the heavy and light chains of the resulting antibodies are identical, which greatly simplifies production and characterization. Concerns about these approaches include the fact that they result in antibodies with different architectures, valencies (tetravalent versus bivalent), orientations and accessibilities of the variable domains, and stabilities relative to conventional antibodies. Nevertheless, more work is needed to understand how these and other attributes of bispecific antibodies impact their therapeutic activity.

9. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

These exciting advances in methods for designing antibodies provide many opportunities for further improvement and application. An important outstanding challenge is the de novo design of antibodies. This includes not only designing antibodies that recognize a given antigen but also specific epitopes that are important for therapeutic applications. De novo design continues to be challenging because of several factors, including the difficulty in accurately predicting the conformation of CDR loops (especially those that are long and variable in length) as well as the structures of antibody–antigen complexes for which there are no initial crystal structures. Nevertheless, recent advances in predicting CDR conformations (145–147), as well as in designing other affinity proteins (148, 149), suggest that these challenges can be overcome. Combining knowledge-based computational methods, such as Rosetta (45), with physics-based methods, such as molecular simulations (150), will be important for improving the accuracy of de novo design methods. It will be equally important to make such computational approaches accessible to a broad audience to enable the evaluation of a large number of designs. The lack of accessibility of computational design methods to nonexperts—which has limited the evaluation of proposed methods—is one reason for the slow progress in developing robust methods for designing antibodies.

Another critical problem in the field of antibody design is the need to simultaneously optimize multiple attributes of antibodies. This is arguably the most compelling reason for pursuing antibody design methods in the first place, and it remains an outstanding challenge. For example, methods aimed at designing the CDRs of antibodies to ensure high affinity need to identify sequences that also maximize folding stability and solubility. This is particularly important for bispecific antibodies with nonconventional architectures because folding stability and solubility are common problems. A related challenge for these nonconventional antibodies is the need to optimize the location for attaching additional variable domains because some locations that are optimal for stability may be suboptimal for binding. For bispecific antibodies with conventional architectures, the proper pairing of different light chains with their cognate heavy chains may be influenced by interactions between the CDRs [as suggested by (141)]. Thus, mutations in the CDRs that improve affinity or solubility may alter pairing efficiency (either positively or negatively), and need to be considered as part of the overall design process.

The need for improved design methods for optimizing antibody effector function is also evident by the fact that such optimization can lead to defects in other antibody attributes. For example, the two main approaches for increasing effector function are (a) altering the Fc sequence or glycans, and (b) changing the antibody format to a bispecific one in which the variable domains target immune cells in addition to the target antigen. The first approach needs to consider the effects of mutating solvent-exposed residues in the constant domains on properties such as antibody stability and solubility. The second approach must account for similar issues as well as how conversion to a bispecific antibody architecture potentially reduces binding affinity due to a reduction in valency (i.e., conversion from bivalent to monovalent binding).

There is also a considerable need for improved methods for designing ADCs due to many similar challenges. Introducing cysteines or other residues for attaching drugs can have variable effects on antibody stability, depending on their location, and attaching hydrophobic drugs to the surfaces of an antibody can lead to variable and difficult-to-predict impacts on solubility. Design methods are needed to collectively optimize these and related properties to obtain highly active ADCs.

10. CONCLUSIONS

Methods for designing antibodies are increasingly being used to reduce the reliance on screening and immunization to optimize key antibody attributes. These rational approaches have not eliminated the need for immunization or screening but instead have focused such efforts to make them more productive. This has led to the generation of antibodies with properties that are uncommon or absent in conventional antibodies. The future of antibody design lies in further improving and evaluating methods for predicting antibody properties to enable optimization of several properties at once. This will be especially important for complex, nonconventional antibody formats, such as bispecifics and ADCs, that have even more critical attributes than conventional antibodies that must be collectively optimized.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

P.M.T. has received honorariums or consulting fees, or both, from MedImmune, Eli Lilly, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Janssen Biotech, Merck, Genentech, Amgen, Pfizer, Adimab, Abbott, AbbVie, Bayer, Roche, DuPont, and Schrödinger.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Robert Pantazes, Costas Maranas, Alexey Lugovskoy, Joseph Arndt, Jacob Jordan, Keyang Xu, and Ben-Quan Shen for providing their original data and for helpful advice. The authors also thank members of the Tessier laboratory for helpful comments on the manuscript, and acknowledge financial support from the National Science Foundation (CBET grants 0954450 and 1159943 to P.M.T., and Graduate Research Fellowship DGE-1247271 to K.E.T.), the National Institutes of Health (R01GM104130 to P.M.T.), the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation (to P.M.T.), and the Richard Baruch M.D. Chair (to P.M.T).

LITERATURE CITED

- Gitlin D. 1966. Current aspects of the structure, function, and genetics of the immunoglobulins. Annu. Rev. Med. 17:1–22
- Bradbury AR, Sidhu S, Dubel S, McCafferty J. 2011. Beyond natural antibodies: the power of in vitro display technologies. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 29:245–54
- 3. Reichert JM. 2013. Which are the antibodies to watch in 2013? mAbs 5:1-4
- 4. Lowe D, Dudgeon K, Rouet R, Schofield P, Jermutus L, Christ D. 2011. Aggregation, stability, and formulation of human antibody therapeutics. *Adv. Protein Chem. Struct. Biol.* 84:41–61
- Perchiacca JM, Tessier PM. 2012. Engineering aggregation-resistant antibodies. Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng. 3:263–86
- Ratanji KD, Derrick JP, Dearman RJ, Kimber I. 2014. Immunogenicity of therapeutic proteins: influence of aggregation. *J. Immunotoxicol.* 11:99–109
- Connolly BD, Petry C, Yadav S, Demeule B, Ciaccio N, et al. 2012. Weak interactions govern the viscosity of concentrated antibody solutions: high-throughput analysis using the diffusion interaction parameter. *Biophys. J.* 103:69–78
- Pantazes RJ, Maranas CD. 2010. OptCDR: a general computational method for the design of antibody complementarity determining regions for targeted epitope binding. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 23:849–58

- Li T, Pantazes RJ, Maranas CD. 2014. OptMAVEn—a new framework for the de novo design of antibody variable region models targeting specific antigen epitopes. *PLOS ONE* 9:e105954
- Moroncini G, Kanu N, Solforosi L, Abalos G, Telling GC, et al. 2004. Motif-grafted antibodies containing the replicative interface of cellular PrP are specific for PrPSc. PNAS 101:10404–9
- Heppner FL, Musahl C, Arrighi I, Klein MA, Rulicke T, et al. 2001. Prevention of scrapie pathogenesis by transgenic expression of anti-prion protein antibodies. *Science* 294:178–82
- Peretz D, Williamson RA, Kaneko K, Vergara J, Leclerc E, et al. 2001. Antibodies inhibit prion propagation and clear cell cultures of prion infectivity. *Nature* 412:739–43
- Solforosi L, Bellon A, Schaller M, Cruite JT, Abalos GC, Williamson RA. 2007. Toward molecular dissection of PrPC–PrPSc interactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282:7465–71
- Perchiacca JM, Ladiwala AR, Bhattacharya M, Tessier PM. 2012. Structure-based design of conformation- and sequence-specific antibodies against amyloid β. PNAS 109:84–89
- Petkova AT, Leapman RD, Guo Z, Yau WM, Mattson MP, Tycko R. 2005. Self-propagating, molecularlevel polymorphism in Alzheimer's β-amyloid fibrils. *Science* 307:262–65
- Ladiwala AR, Bhattacharya M, Perchiacca JM, Cao P, Raleigh DP, et al. 2012. Rational design of potent domain antibody inhibitors of amyloid fibril assembly. *PNAS* 109:19965–70
- Barbas CF 3rd, Languino LR, Smith JW. 1993. High-affinity self-reactive human antibodies by design and selection: targeting the integrin ligand binding site. PNAS 90:10003–7
- Smith JW, Hu D, Satterthwait A, Pinz-Sweeney S, Barbas CF 3rd. 1994. Building synthetic antibodies as adhesive ligands for integrins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:32788–95
- 19. Kirkham PM, Neri D, Winter G. 1999. Towards the design of an antibody that recognises a given protein epitope. *J. Mol. Biol.* 285:909–15
- Koerber JT, Thomsen ND, Hannigan BT, Degrado WF, Wells JA. 2013. Nature-inspired design of motif-specific antibody scaffolds. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 31:916–21
- 21. Stoevesandt O, Taussig MJ. 2013. Phospho-specific antibodies by design. Nat. Biotechnol. 31:889-91
- 22. Lippow SM, Wittrup KD, Tidor B. 2007. Computational design of antibody-affinity improvement beyond in vivo maturation. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 25:1171–76
- Marvin JS, Lowman HB. 2003. Redesigning an antibody fragment for faster association with its antigen. Biochemistry 42:7077–83
- 24. Clark LA, Boriack-Sjodin PA, Eldredge J, Fitch C, Friedman B, et al. 2006. Affinity enhancement of an in vivo matured therapeutic antibody using structure-based computational design. *Protein Sci.* 15:949–60
- Tharakaraman K, Robinson LN, Hatas A, Chen YL, Siyue L, et al. 2013. Redesign of a cross-reactive antibody to dengue virus with broad-spectrum activity and increased in vivo potency. *PNAS* 110:E1555– 64
- 26. Kiyoshi M, Caaveiro JM, Miura E, Nagatoishi S, Nakakido M, et al. 2014. Affinity improvement of a therapeutic antibody by structure-based computational design: generation of electrostatic interactions in the transition state stabilizes the antibody–antigen complex. PLOS ONE 9:e87099
- Kuroda D, Shirai H, Jacobson MP, Nakamura H. 2012. Computer-aided antibody design. Protein Eng. Des. Sel. 25:507–21
- Selzer T, Albeck S, Schreiber G. 2000. Rational design of faster associating and tighter binding protein complexes. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 7:537–41
- Schreiber G, Fersht AR. 1996. Rapid, electrostatically assisted association of proteins. Nat. Struct. Biol. 3:427–31
- Worn A, Pluckthun A. 2001. Stability engineering of antibody single-chain Fv fragments. J. Mol. Biol. 305:989–1010
- Honegger A. 2008. Engineering antibodies for stability and efficient folding. In *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, Vol. 181, ed. Y Chernajovsky, A Nissim, pp. 47–68. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- Helms LR, Wetzel R. 1995. Destabilizing loop swaps in the CDRs of an immunoglobulin V_L domain. Protein Sci. 4:2073–81
- Yasui H, Ito W, Kurosawa Y. 1994. Effects of substitutions of amino acids on the thermal stability of the Fv fragments of antibodies. *FEBS Lett.* 353:143–46
- Zabetakis D, Anderson GP, Bayya N, Goldman ER. 2013. Contributions of the complementarity determining regions to the thermal stability of a single-domain antibody. *PLOS ONE* 8:e77678

- Perchiacca JM, Bhattacharya M, Tessier PM. 2011. Mutational analysis of domain antibodies reveals aggregation hotspots within and near the complementarity determining regions. *Proteins* 79:2637–47
- Ewert S, Honegger A, Pluckthun A. 2004. Stability improvement of antibodies for extracellular and intracellular applications: CDR grafting to stable frameworks and structure-based framework engineering. *Methods* 34:184–99
- Miller BR, Demarest SJ, Lugovskoy A, Huang F, Wu X, et al. 2010. Stability engineering of scFvs for the development of bispecific and multivalent antibodies. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 23:549–57
- Barthelemy PA, Raab H, Appleton BA, Bond CJ, Wu P, et al. 2008. Comprehensive analysis of the factors contributing to the stability and solubility of autonomous human V_H domains. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283:3639–54
- 39. Wirtz P, Steipe B. 1999. Intrabody construction and expression III: engineering hyperstable V_H domains. *Protein Sci.* 8:2245–50
- Tan PH, Sandmaier BM, Stayton PS. 1998. Contributions of a highly conserved V_H/V_L hydrogen bonding interaction to scFv folding stability and refolding efficiency. *Biophys. J.* 75:1473–82
- Monsellier E, Bedouelle H. 2006. Improving the stability of an antibody variable fragment by a combination of knowledge-based approaches: validation and mechanisms. *J. Mol. Biol.* 362:580–93
- Haidar JN, Yuan QA, Zeng L, Snavely M, Luna X, et al. 2012. A universal combinatorial design of antibody framework to graft distinct CDR sequences: a bioinformatics approach. *Proteins* 80:896–912
- Wang N, Smith WF, Miller BR, Aivazian D, Lugovskoy AA, et al. 2009. Conserved amino acid networks involved in antibody variable domain interactions. *Proteins* 76:99–114
- Jordan JL, Arndt JW, Hanf K, Li G, Hall J, et al. 2009. Structural understanding of stabilization patterns in engineered bispecific Ig-like antibody molecules. *Proteins* 77:832–41
- 45. Das R, Baker D. 2008. Macromolecular modeling with Rosetta. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 77:363-82
- Chennamsetty N, Voynov V, Kayser V, Helk B, Trout BL. 2009. Design of therapeutic proteins with enhanced stability. *PNAS* 106:11937–42
- Rothlisberger D, Honegger A, Pluckthun A. 2005. Domain interactions in the Fab fragment: a comparative evaluation of the single-chain Fv and Fab format engineered with variable domains of different stability. *J. Mol. Biol.* 347:773–89
- Wang T, Duan Y. 2011. Probing the stability-limiting regions of an antibody single-chain variable fragment: a molecular dynamics simulation study. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 24:649–57
- Kim DY, Kandalaft H, Ding W, Ryan S, van Faassen H, et al. 2012. Disulfide linkage engineering for improving biophysical properties of human V_H domains. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 25:581–89
- Saerens D, Conrath K, Govaert J, Muyldermans S. 2008. Disulfide bond introduction for general stabilization of immunoglobulin heavy-chain variable domains. *J. Mol. Biol.* 377:478–88
- Reiter Y, Brinkmann U, Webber KO, Jung SH, Lee B, Pastan I. 1994. Engineering interchain disulfide bonds into conserved framework regions of Fv fragments: improved biochemical characteristics of recombinant immunotoxins containing disulfide-stabilized Fv. *Protein Eng.* 7:697–704
- Young NM, MacKenzie CR, Narang SA, Oomen RP, Baenziger JE. 1995. Thermal stabilization of a single-chain Fv antibody fragment by introduction of a disulphide bond. *FEBS Lett.* 377:135–39
- Wang X, Kumar S, Buck PM, Singh SK. 2013. Impact of deglycosylation and thermal stress on conformational stability of a full length murine IgG2a monoclonal antibody: observations from molecular dynamics simulations. *Proteins* 81:443–60
- Ewert S, Honegger A, Pluckthun A. 2003. Structure-based improvement of the biophysical properties of immunoglobulin V_H domains with a generalizable approach. *Biochemistry* 42:1517–28
- Lee CC, Perchiacca JM, Tessier PM. 2013. Toward aggregation-resistant antibodies by design. *Trends Biotechnol.* 31:612–20
- Perchiacca JM, Lee CC, Tessier PM. 2014. Optimal charged mutations in the complementaritydetermining regions that prevent domain antibody aggregation are dependent on the antibody scaffold. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 27:29–39
- Perchiacca JM, Ladiwala AR, Bhattacharya M, Tessier PM. 2012. Aggregation-resistant domain antibodies engineered with charged mutations near the edges of the complementarity-determining regions. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 25:591–601

- Wu SJ, Luo J, O'Neil KT, Kang J, Lacy ER, et al. 2010. Structure-based engineering of a monoclonal antibody for improved solubility. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 23:643–51
- Dudgeon K, Rouet R, Kokmeijer I, Schofield P, Stolp J, et al. 2012. General strategy for the generation of human antibody variable domains with increased aggregation resistance. *PNAS* 109:10879–84
- Jespers L, Schon O, Famm K, Winter G. 2004. Aggregation-resistant domain antibodies selected on phage by heat denaturation. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 22:1161–65
- Pepinsky RB, Silvian L, Berkowitz SA, Farrington G, Lugovskoy A, et al. 2010. Improving the solubility of anti-LINGO-1 monoclonal antibody Li33 by isotype switching and targeted mutagenesis. *Protein Sci.* 19:954–66
- Miklos AE, Kluwe C, Der BS, Pai S, Sircar A, et al. 2012. Structure-based design of supercharged, highly thermoresistant antibodies. *Chem. Biol.* 19:449–55
- 63. Kayser V, Chennamsetty N, Voynov V, Forrer K, Helk B, Trout BL. 2011. Glycosylation influences on the aggregation propensity of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies. *Biotechnol. 7*. 6:38–44
- Schaefer JV, Pluckthun A. 2012. Engineering aggregation resistance in IgG by two independent mechanisms: lessons from comparison of *Pichia pastoris* and mammalian cell expression. *J. Mol. Biol.* 417:309–35
- 65. Buck PM, Kumar S, Singh SK. 2013. Insights into the potential aggregation liabilities of the b12 Fab fragment via elevated temperature molecular dynamics. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 26:195–205
- Lauer TM, Agrawal NJ, Chennamsetty N, Egodage K, Helk B, Trout BL. 2012. Developability index: a rapid in silico tool for the screening of antibody aggregation propensity. *J. Pharm. Sci.* 101:102–15
- 67. Buck PM, Kumar S, Wang X, Agrawal NJ, Trout BL, Singh SK. 2012. Computational methods to predict therapeutic protein aggregation. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 899:425–51
- Tan PH, Chu V, Stray JE, Hamlin DK, Pettit D, et al. 1998. Engineering the isoelectric point of a renal cell carcinoma targeting antibody greatly enhances scFv solubility. *Immunotechnology* 4:107–14
- Jespers L, Schon O, James LC, Veprintsev D, Winter G. 2004. Crystal structure of HEL4, a soluble, refoldable human V_H single domain with a germ-line scaffold. *J. Mol. Biol.* 337:893–903
- Arbabi-Ghahroudi M, To R, Gaudette N, Hirama T, Ding W, et al. 2009. Aggregation-resistant V_{Hs} selected by in vitro evolution tend to have disulfide-bonded loops and acidic isoelectric points. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 22:59–66
- 71. Ewert S, Cambillau C, Conrath K, Pluckthun A. 2002. Biophysical properties of camelid $V_{\rm HH}$ domains compared to those of human $V_{\rm H3}$ domains. *Biochemistry* 41:3628–36
- 72. Desjarlais JR, Lazar GA. 2011. Modulation of antibody effector function. Exp. Cell Res. 317:1278-85
- Strohl WR. 2009. Optimization of Fc-mediated effector functions of monoclonal antibodies. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 20:685–91
- 74. Shields RL, Namenuk AK, Hong K, Meng YG, Rae J, et al. 2001. High resolution mapping of the binding site on human IgG1 for FcγRI, FcγRII, FcγRIII, and FcRn and design of IgG1 variants with improved binding to the FcγR. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276:6591–604
- Sondermann P, Huber R, Oosthuizen V, Jacob U. 2000. The 3.2-A crystal structure of the human IgG1 Fc fragment–FcγRIII complex. *Nature* 406:267–73
- Idusogie EE, Presta LG, Gazzano-Santoro H, Totpal K, Wong PY, et al. 2000. Mapping of the C1q binding site on Rituxan, a chimeric antibody with a human IgG1 Fc. *J. Immunol.* 164:4178–84
- Dall'Acqua WF, Cook KE, Damschroder MM, Woods RM, Wu H. 2006. Modulation of the effector functions of a human IgG1 through engineering of its hinge region. *J. Immunol.* 177:1129–38
- Tao MH, Canfield SM, Morrison SL. 1991. The differential ability of human IgG1 and IgG4 to activate complement is determined by the COOH-terminal sequence of the C_H2 domain. J. Exp. Med. 173:1025– 28
- Norderhaug L, Brekke OH, Bremnes B, Sandin R, Aase A, et al. 1991. Chimeric mouse human IgG3 antibodies with an IgG4-like hinge region induce complement-mediated lysis more efficiently than IgG3 with normal hinge. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:2379–84
- Canfield SM, Morrison SL. 1991. The binding affinity of human IgG for its high affinity Fc receptor is determined by multiple amino acids in the C_H2 domain and is modulated by the hinge region. *J. Exp. Med.* 173:1483–91

- Mimoto F, Igawa T, Kuramochi T, Katada H, Kadono S, et al. 2013. Novel asymmetrically engineered antibody Fc variant with superior FcγR binding affinity and specificity compared with afucosylated Fc variant. mAbs 5:229–36
- Lazar GA, Dang W, Karki S, Vafa O, Peng JS, et al. 2006. Engineered antibody Fc variants with enhanced effector function. *PNAS* 103:4005–10
- Mossner E, Brunker P, Moser S, Puntener U, Schmidt C, et al. 2010. Increasing the efficacy of CD20 antibody therapy through the engineering of a new type II anti-CD20 antibody with enhanced direct and immune effector cell-mediated B-cell cytotoxicity. *Blood* 115:4393–402
- Liu Z, Gunasekaran K, Wang W, Razinkov V, Sekirov L, et al. 2014. Asymmetrical Fc engineering greatly enhances antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) effector function and stability of the modified antibodies. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289:3571–90
- Moore GL, Chen H, Karki S, Lazar GA. 2010. Engineered Fc variant antibodies with enhanced ability to recruit complement and mediate effector functions. *mAbs* 2:181–89
- Idusogie EE, Wong PY, Presta LG, Gazzano-Santoro H, Totpal K, et al. 2001. Engineered antibodies with increased activity to recruit complement. *J. Immunol.* 166:2571–75
- Natsume A, In M, Takamura H, Nakagawa T, Shimizu Y, et al. 2008. Engineered antibodies of IgG1/IgG3 mixed isotype with enhanced cytotoxic activities. *Cancer Res.* 68:3863–72
- Raju TS. 2008. Terminal sugars of Fc glycans influence antibody effector functions of IgGs. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 20:471–78
- Jefferis R. 2009. Recombinant antibody therapeutics: the impact of glycosylation on mechanisms of action. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 30:356–62
- Simmons LC, Reilly D, Klimowski L, Raju TS, Meng G, et al. 2002. Expression of full-length immunoglobulins in *Escherichia coli*: rapid and efficient production of aglycosylated antibodies. *J. Immunol. Methods* 263:133–47
- Jung ST, Reddy ST, Kang TH, Borrok MJ, Sandlie I, et al. 2010. Aglycosylated IgG variants expressed in bacteria that selectively bind FcγRI potentiate tumor cell killing by monocyte–dendritic cells. *PNAS* 107:604–9
- Sazinsky SL, Ott RG, Silver NW, Tidor B, Ravetch JV, Wittrup KD. 2008. Aglycosylated immunoglobulin G1 variants productively engage activating Fc receptors. PNAS 105:20167–72
- Hodoniczky J, Zheng YZ, James DC. 2005. Control of recombinant monoclonal antibody effector functions by Fc N-glycan remodeling in vitro. *Biotechnol. Prog.* 21:1644–52
- Matsumiya S, Yamaguchi Y, Saito J, Nagano M, Sasakawa H, et al. 2007. Structural comparison of fucosylated and nonfucosylated Fc fragments of human immunoglobulin G1. *J. Mol. Biol.* 368:767–79
- Shields RL, Lai J, Keck R, O'Connell LY, Hong K, et al. 2002. Lack of fucose on human IgG1 N-linked oligosaccharide improves binding to human FcγRIII and antibody-dependent cellular toxicity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277:26733–40
- Sondermann P, Pincetic A, Maamary J, Lammens K, Ravetch JV. 2013. General mechanism for modulating immunoglobulin effector function. *PNAS* 110:9868–72
- Natsume A, Shimizu-Yokoyama Y, Satoh M, Shitara K, Niwa R. 2009. Engineered anti-CD20 antibodies with enhanced complement-activating capacity mediate potent anti-lymphoma activity. *Cancer Sci.* 100:2411–18
- Gerdes CA, Nicolini VG, Herter S, van Puijenbroek E, Lang S, et al. 2013. GA201 (RG7160): a novel, humanized, glycoengineered anti-EGFR antibody with enhanced ADCC and superior in vivo efficacy compared with cetuximab. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 19:1126–38
- Panowksi S, Bhakta S, Raab H, Polakis P, Junutula JR. 2014. Site-specific antibody drug conjugates for cancer therapy. mAbs 6:34–45
- Chari RV, Miller ML, Widdison WC. 2014. Antibody–drug conjugates: an emerging concept in cancer therapy. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 53:3796–827
- Kubota T, Niwa R, Satoh M, Akinaga S, Shitara K, Hanai N. 2009. Engineered therapeutic antibodies with improved effector functions. *Cancer Sci.* 100:1566–72
- 102. Sievers EL, Senter PD. 2013. Antibody-drug conjugates in cancer therapy. Annu. Rev. Med. 64:15-29

- Wang L, Amphlett G, Blattler WA, Lambert JM, Zhang W. 2005. Structural characterization of the maytansinoid-monoclonal antibody immunoconjugate, huN901-DM1, by mass spectrometry. *Protein Sci.* 14:2436–46
- Doronina SO, Toki BE, Torgov MY, Mendelsohn BA, Cerveny CG, et al. 2003. Development of potent monoclonal antibody auristatin conjugates for cancer therapy. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 21:778–84
- Sun MM, Beam KS, Cerveny CG, Hamblett KJ, Blackmore RS, et al. 2005. Reduction-alkylation strategies for the modification of specific monoclonal antibody disulfides. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 16:1282–90
- McDonagh CF, Turcott E, Westendorf L, Webster JB, Alley SC, et al. 2006. Engineered antibody–drug conjugates with defined sites and stoichiometries of drug attachment. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 19:299–307
- Junutula JR, Raab H, Clark S, Bhakta S, Leipold DD, et al. 2008. Site-specific conjugation of a cytotoxic drug to an antibody improves the therapeutic index. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26:925–32
- Junutula JR, Bhakta S, Raab H, Ervin KE, Eigenbrot C, et al. 2008. Rapid identification of reactive cysteine residues for site-specific labeling of antibody-Fabs. *J. Immunol. Methods* 332:41–52
- Shen BQ, Xu K, Liu L, Raab H, Bhakta S, et al. 2012. Conjugation site modulates the in vivo stability and therapeutic activity of antibody–drug conjugates. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 30:184–89
- Axup JY, Bajjuri KM, Ritland M, Hutchins BM, Kim CH, et al. 2012. Synthesis of site-specific antibody– drug conjugates using unnatural amino acids. PNAS 109:16101–6
- Hofer T, Skeffington LR, Chapman CM, Rader C. 2009. Molecularly defined antibody conjugation through a selenocysteine interface. *Biochemistry* 48:12047–57
- 112. Boeggeman E, Ramakrishnan B, Pasek M, Manzoni M, Puri A, et al. 2009. Site specific conjugation of fluoroprobes to the remodeled Fc N-glycans of monoclonal antibodies using mutant glycosyltransferases: application for cell surface antigen detection. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 20:1228–36
- Strop P, Liu SH, Dorywalska M, Delaria K, Dushin RG, et al. 2013. Location matters: site of conjugation modulates stability and pharmacokinetics of antibody drug conjugates. *Chem. Biol.* 20:161–67
- Jeger S, Zimmermann K, Blanc A, Grunberg J, Honer M, et al. 2010. Site-specific and stoichiometric modification of antibodies by bacterial transglutaminase. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 49:9995–97
- 115. Hamblett KJ, Senter PD, Chace DF, Sun MM, Lenox J, et al. 2004. Effects of drug loading on the antitumor activity of a monoclonal antibody drug conjugate. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10:7063–70
- 116. Polson AG, Calemine-Fenaux J, Chan P, Chang W, Christensen E, et al. 2009. Antibody–drug conjugates for the treatment of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: target and linker-drug selection. *Cancer Res.* 69:2358–64
- 117. Nolting B. 2013. Linker technologies for antibody-drug conjugates. Methods Mol. Biol. 1045:71-100
- 118. Senter PD. 2009. Potent antibody drug conjugates for cancer therapy. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 13:235-44
- 119. Behrens CR, Liu B. 2014. Methods for site-specific drug conjugation to antibodies. mAbs 6:46-53
- Klein C, Sustmann C, Thomas M, Stubenrauch K, Croasdale R, et al. 2012. Progress in overcoming the chain association issue in bispecific heterodimeric IgG antibodies. *mAbs* 4:653–63
- 121. Carter P. 2001. Bispecific human IgG by design. J. Immunol. Methods 248:7-15
- 122. Holliger P, Winter G. 1993. Engineering bispecific antibodies. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 4:446-49
- Marvin JS, Zhu Z. 2005. Recombinant approaches to IgG-like bispecific antibodies. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 26:649–58
- 124. Gunasekaran K, Pentony M, Shen M, Garrett L, Forte C, et al. 2010. Enhancing antibody Fc heterodimer formation through electrostatic steering effects: applications to bispecific molecules and monovalent IgG. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285:19637–46
- 125. Davis JH, Aperlo C, Li Y, Kurosawa E, Lan Y, et al. 2010. SEEDbodies: fusion proteins based on strandexchange engineered domain (SEED) C_H3 heterodimers in an Fc analogue platform for asymmetric binders or immunofusions and bispecific antibodies. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 23:195–202
- Merchant AM, Zhu Z, Yuan JQ, Goddard A, Adams CW, et al. 1998. An efficient route to human bispecific IgG. Nat. Biotechnol. 16:677–81
- Ridgway JB, Presta LG, Carter P. 1996. 'Knobs-into-holes' engineering of antibody C_H3 domains for heavy chain heterodimerization. *Protein Eng.* 9:617–21
- Lindhofer H, Mocikat R, Steipe B, Thierfelder S. 1995. Preferential species-restricted heavy/light chain pairing in rat/mouse quadromas. Implications for a single-step purification of bispecific antibodies. *J. Immunol.* 155:219–25

- 129. Strop P, Ho WH, Boustany LM, Abdiche YN, Lindquist KC, et al. 2012. Generating bispecific human IgG1 and IgG2 antibodies from any antibody pair. J. Mol. Biol. 420:204–19
- 130. Dong J, Sereno A, Aivazian D, Langley E, Miller BR, et al. 2011. A stable IgG-like bispecific antibody targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor and the type I insulin-like growth factor receptor demonstrates superior anti-tumor activity. *mAbs* 3:273–88
- 131. Xu L, Kohli N, Rennard R, Jiao Y, Razlog M, et al. 2013. Rapid optimization and prototyping for therapeutic antibody-like molecules. *mAbs* 5:237–54
- Orcutt KD, Ackerman ME, Cieslewicz M, Quiroz E, Slusarczyk AL, et al. 2010. A modular IgG-scFv bispecific antibody topology. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.* 23:221–28
- Coloma MJ, Morrison SL. 1997. Design and production of novel tetravalent bispecific antibodies. Nat. Biotechnol. 15:159–63
- 134. Shen J, Vil MD, Jimenez X, Iacolina M, Zhang H, Zhu Z. 2006. Single variable domain–IgG fusion. a novel recombinant approach to Fc domain-containing bispecific antibodies. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281:10706–14
- Holliger P, Prospero T, Winter G. 1993. "Diabodies": small bivalent and bispecific antibody fragments. PNAS 90:6444–48
- Zhu Z, Presta LG, Zapata G, Carter P. 1997. Remodeling domain interfaces to enhance heterodimer formation. *Protein Sci.* 6:781–88
- 137. Spiess C, Merchant M, Huang A, Zheng Z, Yang NY, et al. 2013. Bispecific antibodies with natural architecture produced by co-culture of bacteria expressing two distinct half-antibodies. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 31:753–58
- Kostelny SA, Cole MS, Tso JY. 1992. Formation of a bispecific antibody by the use of leucine zippers. *J. Immunol.* 148:1547–53
- Atwell S, Ridgway JB, Wells JA, Carter P. 1997. Stable heterodimers from remodeling the domain interface of a homodimer using a phage display library. *J. Mol. Biol.* 270:26–35
- 140. Schaefer W, Regula JT, Bahner M, Schanzer J, Croasdale R, et al. 2011. Immunoglobulin domain crossover as a generic approach for the production of bispecific IgG antibodies. *PNAS* 108:11187–92
- 141. Lewis SM, Wu X, Pustilnik A, Sereno A, Huang F, et al. 2014. Generation of bispecific IgG antibodies by structure-based design of an orthogonal Fab interface. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32:191–98
- 142. Wu C, Ying H, Grinnell C, Bryant S, Miller R, et al. 2007. Simultaneous targeting of multiple disease mediators by a dual-variable-domain immunoglobulin. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 25:1290–97
- 143. Wu C, Ying H, Bose S, Miller R, Medina L, et al. 2009. Molecular construction and optimization of anti-human IL-1α/β dual variable domain immunoglobulin (DVD-Ig) molecules. mAbs 1:339–47
- Zuo Z, Jimenez X, Witte L, Zhu Z. 2000. An efficient route to the production of an IgG-like bispecific antibody. *Protein Eng.* 13:361–67
- 145. Weitzner BD, Kuroda D, Marze N, Xu J, Gray JJ. 2014. Blind prediction performance of RosettaAntibody 3.0: grafting, relaxation, kinematic loop modeling, and full CDR optimization. *Proteins* 82:1611–23
- 146. Shirai H, Ikeda K, Yamashita K, Tsuchiya Y, Sarmiento J, et al. 2014. High-resolution modeling of antibody structures by a combination of bioinformatics, expert knowledge, and molecular simulations. *Proteins* 82:1624–35
- 147. Zhu K, Day T. 2013. Ab initio structure prediction of the antibody hypervariable H3 loop. *Proteins* 81:1081–89
- Fleishman SJ, Whitehead TA, Ekiert DC, Dreyfus C, Corn JE, et al. 2011. Computational design of proteins targeting the conserved stem region of influenza hemagglutinin. *Science* 332:816–21
- Stranges PB, Machius M, Miley MJ, Tripathy A, Kuhlman B. 2011. Computational design of a symmetric homodimer using β-strand assembly. *PNAS* 108:20562–67
- Xia Z, Huynh T, Kang SG, Zhou R. 2012. Free-energy simulations reveal that both hydrophobic and polar interactions are important for influenza hemagglutinin antibody binding. *Biophys. J.* 102:1453–61